
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 

Shaul Levy,  

   Plaintiff, 

Law Offices of J. Henry Nierman; 

J. Henry Nierman; 

Recovery of Judgment LLC 

   Defendants. 

 

COMPLAINT 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action for money damages and declaratory judgment, brought by an individual 

consumer for Defendants’ violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, 

et seq. (“FDCPA”) and New York General Business Law § 349. 

2. This action relates to Defendants’ illegal, deceptive, and abusive attempts to collect 

allegedly unpaid judgment via a flagrantly unlawful and improper subpoena. 

3. Moreover, the underlying judgment that Defendants were purportedly attempting to 

enforce appears not to exist. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. Jurisdiction is conferred by l5 U.S.C. §l692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

5. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202.   

6. Venue in this district is proper because the Defendants reside in this District and the acts 

and the transactions that give rise to this action occurred, in substantial part, in this district. 28 

U.S.C. §§1391b(1) and (2). 

PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Shaul Levy is a natural person who resides in Miami Beach, Florida.  

8. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3).   
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9. Defendant Law Offices of J. Henry Nierman (“LOHN”) is a third-party debt collector 

whose principal business purpose is the collection of debts.  

10. LOHN regularly attempts to collect debts alleged to be due to another and is a “debt 

collector” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

11. LOHN is engaged in the business of collecting debts in New York and maintains its 

principal place of business at 39 West 29th Street, Suite 612, New York NY 10001. 

12. Defendant J. Henry Nierman (“Nierman”) is a third-party debt collector whose principal 

business activity is the collection of debts.  

13. Nierman regularly attempts to collect debts alleged to be due to another and is a “debt 

collector” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

14. Nierman, is engaged in the business of collecting debts in New York and maintains his 

principal place of business at 39 West 29th Street, Suite 612, New York NY 10001. 

15. Defendant Recovery of Judgment LLC (“Recovery of Judgment”) is a foreign limited 

liability company and, according to its own website, is a third party debt collector focused on 

judgment recovery.  Exhibit D. 

16. Recovery of Judgment regularly attempts to collect debts alleged to be due to another and 

is a “debt collector” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

17. Recovery of Judgment is engaged in the business of collecting debts in New York and 

maintains its principal place of business at 39 West 29th Street, Suite 612, New York NY 10001. 

18. As stated above, all three Defendants share the same business address. 

19. As set forth herein and in the attached exhibits, Nierman and LOHN send to consumers 

dunning letters that list the same address, phone number and fax number as the address, phone 

and fax number for Recovery of Judgment, as listed on its website. 

20. As set forth herein and in the attached exhibits, Nierman and LOHN send out dunning 

letters that list LOHN’s website as www.RecoveryofJudgment.com and list Nierman and 

LOHN’s email as Support@RecoveryofJudgment.com. 
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21. Upon information and belief, the Defendants are united in interest, and in essence, 

operating one unified debt collection operation, controlled by Nierman. 

FACTS 

22. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs. 

23. By letter dated December 10, 2016,  post-marked December 13, 2016, and sent by regular 

mail, Defendant sent to Mr. Levy the letter and purported post-judgment Subpoena Dues Tecum 

attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

24. The subpoena purports to be issued in relation to a judgment in “Matt Morrison v. Shaul 

Levy”, taken in New York Civil Court, County of New York, with a purported index number of 

“056136/2010”.  Id. 

25. The subpoena is addressed to Mr. Levy in Florida and “command[s]” Mr. Levy “to 

appear and attend before Recovery of Judgment at 39 West 29th Street, Suite 612, New York, 

New York 10001 on December 26, 2016 at 10:00 AM”, i.e. the day after Christmas, which was a 

federal holiday. 

26. The subpoena  further “command[s]” Mr. Levy to bring with him comprehensive 

financial documentation, including “statements for bank accounts. . . . debtor has maintained in 

the past five (5) years”, “all federal and state tax returns for the past five years”, etc.  

27. The subpoena also contains a restraining notice stating that Mr. Levy is “forbidden to 

make or suffer any sale, assignment, transfer, or interference with any property in which [he] 

ha[s] an interest, except upon direction of the sheriff or pursuant to an order of the court until the 

aforesaid judgment is satisfied or vacated.”  Exhibit A. 

28. The restraining notice further states that “Disobedience of this Restraining Notice is 

punishable as a contempt of court.” 

29. The subpoena states “FINAL NOTICE” in large letters across each page. 

30. The accompanying letter, from “Law Offices of J. Henry Nierman” and signed by Mr. 

Nierman, but listing the address, phone number, website and email shared with Defendant 
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Recovery of Judgment, warns that “failure to comply with a properly issued subpoena entitles 

the creditor to move the Court to impose sanctions on the debt and request additional fines 

and/or imprisonment.  Exhibit B [emphasis in original]. 

31. The subpoena and accompanying letter are flagrantly unlawful and in gross violation of 

New York law and the FDCPA. 

32. The subpoena and accompanying letter and were sent to Mr. Levy in Florida, whereas the 

purported default judgment in question is listed as having been taken in New York.    

33. Such out-of-state post-judgment subpoenas are void under New York law which has no 

provision for service of a subpoena upon a judgment debtor without the state.  See, e.g.   Siemens 

& Halske, GmbH v. Gres, 324 N.Y.S.2d 639, 640 (1st Dep't 1971) (voiding a post-judgment 

subpoena and holding that “[w]hile . . . a summons may be served outside the State, there is no 

such provision for a subpoena.”); Israel Discount Bank, Ltd. v P. S. Products Corp., 65 Misc 2d 

1002, 1004, 319 N.Y.S.2d 554 (NY Sup. Ct. 1991) ("service of the subpoena upon judgment 

debtor without the State is void"); Alfred E. Mann Living Trust v ETIRC Aviation S.a.r.L, 35 

Misc. 3d 1228(A), (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2009).   

34. Even were this not so, the subpoena is a nullity because it was required to be 

served “in the same manner as a summons” (CPLR  §2303), whereas Defendants’ letter 

and “subpoena” were sent via regular mail.  Exhibit C.   

35. Regular mail would not be valid service with regard to a summons and is 

therefore not valid service with regard to the subpoena. 

36. The subpoena is also improper because it is required to set forth a deposition 

date that falls during regular business hours, whereas the  subpoena calls for the 

deposition to occur on December 26, 2016, which was a Court (and national) holiday 

and therefore does not qualify.  CPLR §5224(c).   

37. Moreover, the subpoena was not timely as it was mailed, at earliest on 

December 13, 2016 and did not arrive until less than 10 days before the supposed 
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deposition date CPLR §5224.   

38. The subpoena also lacks the statutorily required language set forth in 22 

NYCRR §208.39.  

39. Because the subpoena was unlawful, the cover letter, which was also labelled 

“FINAL NOTICE” and suggested that Mr. Levy could face “fines and/or 

imprisonment” should he fail to reply, was also unlawful. 

40. Moreover, the underlying action appears not to exist.  

41. Specifically:  Prior to the filing of this litigation, the undersigned sent a letter to 

Nierman stating, inter alia, that Mr. Levy did not recognize the underlying action. 

42. Subsequently, in a conversation on December 27, 2016, Nierman indicated that 

he would send counsel for plaintiff the underlying court file. 

43. Counsel for plaintiff followed up on this request on January 12, 2017 via email. 

44. Nierman did not respond.   

45. Since that time, after conducting initial research that failed to identify any 

underlying action with the caption listed in the letter or subpoena (“Matt Morrison v. 

Shaul Levy”) (New York Civil) or a case with a similar name listed by the index 

number provided in the letter and subpoena (#056136/2010), my office conferred with 

the New York Civil and Supreme Court Clerks’ offices.   

46. The Clerks were likewise unable to identify any such action in their databases.  

47. Based upon this inquiry, it appears and Plaintiff hereby alleges that the 

underlying judgment does not exist. 

48. In the alternative, the underlying judgment has been materially misstated in the 

collection communications received from Defendants. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq. 

49. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs. 

50. By undertaking the above referenced collection activities, Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. 
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§ 1692 et seq. 

51. Specifically, and without limitation, Defendants violated the FDCPA through a host of 

false, deceptive and unfair conduct, in violation of 1692e and 1692f including, inter alia: 

a. Falsely representing the character, amount and legal status of the purported debt; (§ 

1692e(2)) (e.g. falsely representing that a judgment had been obtained against Mr. Levy 

in an action in New York Civil Court captioned “Matt Morrison v. Shaul Levy” with 

an index number of 056136/2010); 

b. Threatening to take actions against Mr. Levy that cannot be taken and that were never 

intended to be taken (e.g. the taking of his deposition in New York, moving the Court 

to impose sanctions on Mr. Levy and/or to request “additional fines and/or 

imprisonment” of Mr. Levy in the event he did not appear or otherwise comply with 

the unlawfully issued subpoena) (§ 1692e(5)); 

c. Making false representations and deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any 

debt or to obtain information concerning Mr. Levy (§ 1692e10); 

d. Falsely representing that documents are legal process.  (§ 1692e(13)); and 

e. Attempting to collect amounts not authorized by any agreement creating the debt or 

permitted by law (§ 1692f(1)). 

52. As a result of Defendant’s FDCPA violations, Plaintiff has suffered actual damages, 

including:  

a. attorney’s fees and costs; 

b. aggravation, nervousness, emotional distress, fear, loss of concentration, indignation, 

and pain and suffering (inter alia, in connection with the false prospect of being held 

in contempt, fined, and/or imprisoned per Defendants’ letter and subpoena). 

53. As a result of these violations, Plaintiff is entitled to statutory damages of up to $1,000, 

actual damages, and attorney’s fees and costs. 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violations Of New York General Business Law § 349  

54. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs. 

55. Each of the deceptive acts and practices set forth above, constitute violations of NYGBL § 

349 independent of whether these acts and practices constitute violations of any other law. 

56. These deceptive acts and practices were committed in conduct of business, trade, 

commerce or the furnishing of a service in this state.   

57. Specifically, the deceptive acts and practices occurred in the course of Defendants’ 

attempts to collect a purported consumer debt that Defendants alleged had been reduced to a New 

York state court judgment, and these collection actions (the drafting and sending of the various 

deceptive and misleading documents referenced above) took place largely in New York. 

58. Defendants’ deceptive acts and practices were consumer-orientated. 

59. Defendants’ conduct was not a unique, one-time occurrence without possibility of 

replication or recurrence and without implication for the broader consuming public, but rather 

involve misleading boilerplate documents sent by a high volume debt collector to a consumer. 

60. Defendants’ willfully and knowingly engaged in the deceptive tactics set forth herein in 

bad faith and, on information and belief, do so on a regular and recurring basis.   

61. Defendants’ statements and conduct, as set forth herein and in the attached Exhibits, were 

materially misleading.  

62.   As a result of these violations of NYGBL § 349, Plaintiff suffered, inter alia, actual 

damages, as set forth above at paragraph 52. 

63. For these reasons, Plaintiff is entitled to actual damages, declaratory judgment, an 

injunction of the deceptive practices set forth herein (including inter alia, an injunction against 

Defendants sending out subpoenas of the type described herein to consumers living outside of New 

York; an injunction against Defendants sending out subpoenas to any consumer via regular mail; 

and an injunction against sending out subpoenas that fail to accurately and completely set forth the 

caption, the index number, and the identity of the judgment creditor, etc.), three times actual 
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damages up to $1000, punitive damages, costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court award: 

(a) Declaratory Judgment that Defendant’s conduct violated the FDCPA and NYGBL § 349 ; 

(b) Injunctive relief pursuant to NYGBL § 349;  

(c) Actual damages; 

(d) Statutory damages;  

(e) Costs and reasonable attorney’s fees; and  

(f) Such other and further relief as law or equity may provide. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury 

as to all issues so triable. 

Dated: May 30, 2017 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 

/s/Daniel A. Schlanger 
Daniel A. Schlanger, Esq. 
Kakalec & Schlanger, LLP 
85 Broad Street, 18th Floor 
New York, NY 10004 
T: (212) 500-6114  
dschlanger@kakalec-schlanger.com 
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Have you obtained a judgment and had difficulty collecting
your money? We can help! We find their property. We collect.
We send you a check. It will cost you nothing. Zero!

We do not waste time urging the judgment debtor to pay
money that they have refused to pay for years. Rather, we
aggressively use every weapon provided by law to seize their
assets and deliver that money where it belongs: your wallet!

At Recovery of Judgment we treat our clients with courtesy
and respect. Our years of experience, expertise and integrity
ensure that Recovery Of Judgment will maximize your chances
of recovery.

We provide quality judgment enforcement and debt collection.
All recovery and enforcement procedures are handled in­house
with staffed investigators, attorneys, and professional asset
skip­tracers.

Submit your judgment for a free evaluation

How may we help you
recover your money?

Full Name

Email Address

Phone Number

Message

Here is what our customers had to say...
"I am very happy with the results achieved by Recovery of Judgment. I had a
judgment which I thought was unenforceable. It had been languishing for
years. Recovery of Judgment contacted me, vigorously pursued the debtor and
forwarded almost $10,000 to me. I could not have asked for more. As a retired
California Attorney, I truly appreciate the skill and commitment of this company.
Thank you."

­ Julie M.

Frequently Asked Questions

How do I know that you will pay me the right amount?

Can you guarantee that you will collect the money?

Are you providing clients with legal services?

How do you do debt collection?

Is it hard to place an account into collections?

 Read answers to these questions and more

Take a look at how the strongest judgment recovery agency can help you.

Home Judgment Enforcement Debt Collection FAQs About Us Contact Us

Utilizing an advanced and effective strategy in
judgment recovery!

Home
Judgment Enforcement
Debt Collection
FAQs
About Us
Contact Us

Contact
Email: support@recoveryofjudgment.com
Office: 646.863.9783
Fax: 646.810.5781

Office
39 West 29th Street #612 
New York, NY 10001

Hours
Sunday ­ Friday: 8am ­ 5pm
Saturday: Closed

Nothing on this site constitutes legal advice. We are not a law firm. We do not repair your credit for you. This is a self help educational
program only. By visiting this website, you agree to our terms.

Copyright © 2017 Recovery of Judgment. All rights reserved.  Disclaimer  Terms  Privacy
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Submit your judgment for a
free evaluation

Check the status of a
judgment recovery case

Pay your judgment now

Judgment Amount $

Date Awarded mm/dd/yyyy

Jurisdiction  

Interest Override %

Post­Judgment Interest Calculator

Judgment Enforcement and Collection
Have you obtained a judgment and had difficulty collecting your money? We can
help!

We advance all costs and expenses incurred in the service of papers, examinations,
subpoenas, court reporters and legal fees.

Most judgment creditors are forced to handle post­judgment recovery themselves.
Courts provide little help with the complicated process of collecting money
judgments. Trained professionals are capable of overcoming the many hurdles
involved in judgment enforcement: researching and investigating debtor assets;
court filings; issuing executions; extensive legwork; and keeping track of the
timetables of the court.

We will relieve you of the hassle and frustration of dealing with the debtor and the
courts! Recovery of Judgment investigates each debtor individually and develops an
enforcement strategy for the most efficient action to enforce each judgment. Best
of all, we only get paid when the debtor has paid!

Recovery Of Judgment has access to databases that fewer than 1% of all collection
companies are permitted to access. These specialized databases enable us to find
your debtor and any monetary assets he/she may be hiding to avoid or hinder any
collection on the judgment. We are proud of our ability to quickly locate debtor
assets that few companies can match.

Additionally, Recovery of Judgment provides a team of highly trained professionals
with experience in skip tracing, asset search, process service and an attorney with
experience in the post­judgment proceedings, at no cost to you!

We levy bank accounts, seize vehicles for auction and garnish wages as permitted
by law. All this will be done without you as plaintiff/creditor ever having to confront
the debtor/defendant again.

Perhaps most importantly, our customer service is unparalleled. We recognize that
this has likely been a frustrating process for you and that an important part of our

Since 2000, we have enforced money
judgments for:

Law firms and attorneys

Real estate companies

Businesses

Individuals

We can enforce your judgment! Recovery of
Judgment specializes in:

Turning your paper (judgment) into cash!

Domesticating judgments: moving the court judgment to
the state, where the debtor currently lives or has a
business.

Fraudulent conveyance/transfer: discovering assets, which
were transferred to another person or company to avoid
paying a judgment.

Finding debtors and their assets.

Home Judgment Enforcement Debt Collection FAQs About Us Contact Us

Utilizing an advanced and effective strategy in
judgment recovery!

Case 7:17-cv-04022-NSR-JCM     Document 1-4     Filed 05/30/17     Page 3 of 10

http://recoveryofjudgment.com/judgment-enforcement-form.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/check-status.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/pay-judgment.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/judgment-enforcement.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/debt-collection.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/faqs.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/about.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/contact.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/check-status.php


5/29/2017 Judgment Enforcement and Collection from Recovery Of Judgment

http://recoveryofjudgment.com/judgment­enforcement.php 2/2

function is to provide peace of mind. Feel free to call for a free consultation or, if we
are handling your case already, just to get a status update. Recovery Of Judgment.s
staff is here to assist you and during normal business hours we are always just a
quick toll free call away!

Home
Judgment Enforcement
Debt Collection
FAQs
About Us
Contact Us

Contact
Email: support@recoveryofjudgment.com
Office: 646.863.9783
Fax: 646.810.5781

   

Office
39 West 29th Street #612 
New York, NY 10001

Hours
Sunday ­ Friday: 8am ­ 5pm
Saturday: Closed

Nothing on this site constitutes legal advice. We are not a law firm. We do not repair your credit for you. This is a self help educational
program only. By visiting this website, you agree to our terms.

Copyright © 2017 Recovery of Judgment. All rights reserved.  Disclaimer  Terms  Privacy
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Submit a debt collection
case

Check the status of a debt
collection case

Pay your debt now

Submit your judgment for a free evaluation

How may we help?

Full Name

Email Address

Phone Number

Message

Debt Collection Services
Recovery of Judgment is your one stop shop when it comes to collecting an unpaid
debt. Our collection agency specialists have been in the business long enough to
know exactly which methods work, and which are a waste of time an recourses.
Every successful debt recovery is another proud notch in our belts, and we make
sure to collect by any means possible. We make sure to stay up to date with any
and every technique in the business to ensure that our customers have the
absolute highest chance to have their debt paid. We apply only the most advanced
strategies with the highest proven success rates.

Don’t take your unpaid debt lightly. Hiring a professional team of collectors can be
one of the smartest financial moves you can make. If you are owed money, you
deserve to get it. Here, at Recovery of Judgment, we know exactly how it feels to
not get the money we’re owed, this is why we go above and beyond the standards
when it comes to our debt collecting efforts.

We get to the very root of your debt collection problem. Our proven solutions are
the reason we have customers coming back for more. From big corporations with
millions of dollars of uncollected payments, to something as simple as small claims
debt, Recovery of Judgment takes on any job, big or small.

How confident are we in our debt collecting skills? So confident that we’re going to
offer our services to you free of charge. That’s right! We’ll gladly do to work, and we
won’t take a penny until your money has been collected. Our knowledgeable
representatives are standing by to answer any inquiries about our services, so be
sure to give us a call or e­mail!

"We GUARANTEE to COLLECT your PAST
DUE accounts or our service is FREE"

Experienced, persistent, professional bill collectors handle
your accounts.

Free skip tracing ­ we find "them" when you can't.

Reporting of delinquent, past due accounts to consumer
and commercial credit bureaus.

We can handle small and large volumes of past due
accounts.

Place past due accounts electronically.

Our world wide network of debt recovery attorneys
available to you.
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Contact
Email: support@recoveryofjudgment.com
Office: 646.863.9783
Fax: 646.810.5781

   

Office
39 West 29th Street #612 
New York, NY 10001

Hours
Sunday ­ Friday: 8am ­ 5pm
Saturday: Closed

Case 7:17-cv-04022-NSR-JCM     Document 1-4     Filed 05/30/17     Page 5 of 10

http://recoveryofjudgment.com/debt-collection-form.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/check-status.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/pay-debt.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/judgment-enforcement-form.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/judgment-enforcement.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/debt-collection.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/faqs.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/about.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/contact.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/check-status.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/judgment-enforcement.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/debt-collection.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/faqs.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/about.php
http://recoveryofjudgment.com/contact.php
http://www.twitter.com/judgmentbuysell
http://www.facebook.com/pages/Recovery-Of-Judgment-Judgment-Collection-Enforcement-Services/152634098082025
http://www.linkedin.com/companies/recovery-of-judgment


5/29/2017 Debt collection services from Recovery of Judgment

http://recoveryofjudgment.com/debt­collection.php 2/2

Nothing on this site constitutes legal advice. We are not a law firm. We do not repair your credit for you. This is a self help educational
program only. By visiting this website, you agree to our terms.
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Frequently Asked Questions

How much will it cost me, really?
It will cost you nothing. Zero! We advance all costs. We work with attorneys at no
cost to you. We spend the money and the time. If we don't collect, it still costs you
nothing.

What is 'domestication'?
Judgment Domestication is the legal proceeding to move a judgment from the state
where it originated to the state where the debtor lives or has a business. After this
process the judgment can be enforced as a 'foreign judgment' or 'sister­state­
judgment' entered in the local state.

I thought my judgment was a court order! Isn't the
debtor breaking the law by not paying?
Unfortunately, it is not against the law to owe money. There is no debtor's prison
anymore. As a practical matter, if your debtor were in jail, it would be difficult to
collect your judgment. You want the debtor working and making money, so that
he/she is developing assets that can be executed upon.

Are you a collection agency?
Yes. We are a licensed debt collection agency; however, we handle our judgment
clients differently than our debt collection clients. Collection agencies process debt
in bulk. They typically send out demand letters and call debtors to try to get them
to pay.

The law permits us to act far more aggressively with our judgment clients. It starts
with an assignment on your judgment to Recovery Of Judgment. That way, we
have the authority to pull credit reports and conduct thorough asset investigation.
Your case will be treated individually and expertly by processors who are highly
trained and motivated to find your money, because if we do not find your money,
we make nothing. We stand behind our work and will lay out all costs of
investigation, travel expenses, legal fees and any additional court fees.

Can I use an attorney?
Yes you can. But consider this: We have databases at our fingertips that few
attorneys are permitted to access. This enables us to locate assets for judgment
satisfaction that most attorneys will have difficulty unearthing. Furthermore, most
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attorneys charge an hourly fee or, he/she may take an contingency plus .up­front.
cost on your judgment. Most attorneys are very skilled in getting judgments, many
of them, though, are unfamiliar with effective post­judgment remedies and
strategies and have no access to asset investigators.

It is not uncommon for us to receive calls from attorneys for asset investigation
and even to enforce their judgments.

Are you providing clients with legal services?
No. While Recovery Of Judgment hires attorneys to represent their interests in the
judgment in court, these attorneys are working for Recovery Of Judgment and not
for our clients. That being said, the success of our attorneys in court typically
benefits our clients.

Recovery Of Judgments interests in the judgment debtor.s assets are perfected
aligned with the interests of its clients. Meaning, Recovery Of Judgment only makes
money when they successfully seize assets from the judgment debtor. Our
attorneys assist us in seizing those assets. At the same time, through seizing those
assets, Recovery Of Judgment.s clients benefit by seeing their judgments satisfied.

In short, Recovery Of Judgment is not providing you with any legal services. When
you employ Recovery of Judgment you are not hiring a lawyer. However, Recovery
Of Judgment hires lawyers to work for them and their success benefits everybody.

How do I know that you will pay me the right
amount?
With every payment to you, we send you a copy of the check we received for your
file copy.

Can you guarantee that you will collect the money?
No. There are no guarantees except that we make the strongest effort possible. We
use every strategy to collect the principle and interest which continues to accrue
until the judgment is fully satisfied.

How long is the judgment good for?
In New York, judgments are valid for 20 years. In addition, judgment creditors may
extend the period beyond twenty years if they make the proper application in Court
before the 20 years lapse. Other states may vary from 7 to 25 years. Judgments
collect interest. In New York it's 9% per year. Other states vary, usually between
5% and 10%.

How do you do debt collection?
We use a proprietary blend of, letters, phone calls, faxes, and emails.

Is it hard to place an account into collections?
Not at all. All you have to do is fill out the form and send it to us. That's it.
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Nothing on this site constitutes legal advice. We are not a law firm. We do not repair your credit for you. This is a self help educational
program only. By visiting this website, you agree to our terms.
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About Recovery Of Judgment
We are committed to providing our clients with the best judgment enforcement
service possible.

Recovery Of Judgment employs a team of professional skip­tracers, asset searchers,
process servers and attorneys. Unparalleled access to financial databases and a
wealth of experience in judgment execution are at our disposal.

We go the extra mile to recover your money. We successfully locate assets, seize
them and convert those assets into payment of your judgment. In particular,
Recovery Of Judgment takes pride in realizing well hidden assets through legal
searches that only experienced specialists consider. We commit ourselves to
enforcing your judgment until it is paid.

Based in New York City with offices on West 30th Street and 7th Avenue, Recovery
Of Judgment handles cases throughout the United States.

Our Commitment
At Recovery of Judgment, we treat our clients with courtesy
and integrity. Our years of experience and notable expertise
ensure that your collection is in good hands.

Our consistent track record of uncompromising ethics instills
confidence and trust. We use cutting edge technologies to
ensure up to the minute information from the world. This
allows us to respond quickly, and find the debtors.

Realistically, there are some judgment debtors who simply do
no have the assets to pay judgments they have incurred.
Accordingly, nobody can guarantee that they will find your
assets. Our commitment, however, is that if we cannot find
your money nobody can!

Home Judgment Enforcement Debt Collection FAQs About Us Contact Us

Utilizing an advanced and effective strategy in
judgment recovery!
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